(A private designated activity company limited by shares)

Directors' Report and Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

Directors' Report and Financial Statements

CONTENTS	Page
DIRECTORS AND OTHER INFORMATION	3
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT	4
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE	6
DIRECTORS' REPORT	9
STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL	15
REPORT OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL	17
STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE	19
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION	20
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES AND CAPITAL ACCOUNT	21
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS	22
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	23

DIRECTORS AND OTHER INFORMATION Board of Directors

Cyril Forbes (Chairperson)
Elizabeth Jean Carberry
Sheelagh Daly
John Irwin
Harry McDaid
Gerry O'Neill
Susan O'Neill
Mary O'Shaughnessy
Anne Reilly
Brendan Whelan

Secretary and Registered Office

Bradwell Ltd 10 Earlsfort Terrace Dublin 2

Registered Number: 516555

Registered Charity Number: CHY 20447

Charities Regulator Registered Number: 20081102

Date of Incorporation: 17th August 2012

Auditors

Comptroller and Auditor General 3A Mayor St. Upper Dublin 1

Principal Bankers

Bank of Ireland 2 College Green Dublin 2

Solicitors

Mason Hayes and Curran South Bank House Barrow Street Dublin 4

Contact Information

Garrett Stokes, Chief Executive Officer Patrick Kilbane, Head of Finance and Risk

Microfinance Ireland 13 Richview Office Park, Clonskeagh, Dublin 14.

Tel: +353 (0)1 260 1007

Email: info@microfinanceireland.ie Web: www.microfinceireland.ie

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Directors of Microfinance Ireland ("MFI") I am pleased to present the audited Financial Statements for the 12 months ending 31st December 2017.

MFI in 2017, approved €5.5 million in loans for 400 small businesses supporting an additional 1,141 jobs at a cost of under €2,000 each – the lowest cost of any Government job initiative. Many of the loan recipients are from vulnerable sectors such as youth, unemployed, females, migrants and seniors.

These borrowers through their vision, hard work, commitment and belief, create and sustain jobs by delivering their goods and services in every city, town and village throughout the whole country thereby supporting communities changing and enhancing the fabric of Irish society.

Since its launch in September 2012, the fund has approved €22.6m in loans to 1,567 businesses, supporting 3,952 jobs. The majority of our customers continue to be start-ups.

MFI continues to support economic and job growth throughout Ireland by providing loans up to €25,000 for up to 5 years to micro-enterprises that have difficulty in accessing bank credit.

MFI loan scheme is demand led, optimising awareness of the business is essential to ensure we are reaching as many of our potential customers as possible. A successful rebranding of the business in late 2016, has been supported in 2017 by significant marketing, promotional and business development activities. Through these, brand awareness has increased significantly.

MFI by its nature and mandate underwrites credit risk beyond that of commercial lenders. To ensure that all projects or individuals are given a prompt, full and fair credit assessment and where appropriate offered affordable loans through MFI, we continued to enhance credit management and credit processes while striving to ensure that no applicant takes on unsustainable levels of borrowing. The average loan approval rate for the year was 43%.

During the year, the Board revisited the business' five year strategic plan and endorsed the future direction and growth ambitions. The business will continue to focus on delivering loans and supporting job creation in all areas of the country and continue to be the lowest cost per job support agency in the State.

In March 2017, MFI further strengthened it's relationship and reputation with the EIF when we achieved certification as best in class under the European Commission's European Code of Good Conduct for Microfinance Provision.

MFI successfully negotiated in December 2017 a new five year facility with The European Investment Fund (EIF) under their Employment and Social Innovation (EaSI) Facility after the original facility expired in October 2017. EIF is a vital partner and their ongoing support is much appreciated by MFI as it is a significant aid in enabling us to lend money to microenterprises that do not meet conventional lending criteria.

To date the business has received €20m of State funding (of which €7.3m has been spent) without which the microenterprise job creation initiative would not exist. Heather Humphreys, the Minister for Business, Enterprise and Innovation and Pat Breen, the Minister of State for Trade, Employment, Business, EU Digital Single Market and Data Protection and their officials at the Department of Business, Enterprise and Innovation provide not only funding but ongoing support and assistance to MFI. They are an integral part of the success of the Microenterprise Loan Fund Scheme. I would like to extend our appreciation to the Ministers and their Departments for their ongoing support throughout 2017.

The Local Enterprise Office (LEO) Network, which is our primary partner and a major source of loan applicants, supports MFI by assisting microenterprises with their loan application, business training and mentoring support for which we are most grateful. This mentoring support is vital to the viability and sustainability of our customers. We wish the LEOs continued success and look forward to working on further joint initiatives for job support and job creation with them.

Our other partners, Bank of Ireland, AIB, Ulster Bank and the Local Development Companies continue to be a further source of applications. Their continued support is much appreciated and acknowledged.

I would also like to express our appreciation and gratitude to our parent body The Social Finance Foundation (SFF), it's Board and management for the ongoing assistance and support of MFI.

I would like to thank all of my fellow voluntary board members who give generously of their time and extensive range of business experience and expertise to ensure the success of MFI. It was with great regret that we saw the resignation of Páraig Hennessy from the Board due to his transfer to London. We wish him well and thank him. His commitment and support of MFI since its conception and inception has been pivotal. His experience and guidance to me personally was invaluable. I would also like to thank Ger Cleary for his contribution whilst he was on the board of MFI from which he resigned due to business commitments in 2017. It is my pleasure to welcome both Jean Carberry and Susan O'Neill as Board members who bring new, fresh and invigorating voices to the table.

A special word of thanks to the two Board committees, the Audit & Risk Committee and the Credit Committee. The Credit Committee under the Chairmanship of Harry McDaid has reported good progress towards achieving the long term credit underwriting objectives in the current year.

Finally, I must and want to state on behalf of the Non-Executive Board that none of this would have been achieved but for the huge effort, commitment and ability of Garrett Stokes our CEO and the Microfinance Ireland Team. I thank them all and look forward with confidence to further success in enhancing and changing lives, families and communities by continued support of higher risk propositions in 2018.

Cyril Forbes

Chair

11 June 2018

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

2017 was another year of strong growth for Microfinance Ireland (MFI).

Business Activity

Despite reduced demand in the marketplace, 2017 was a record year for the business with lending activity and the number of jobs supported continuing to grow.

Application volumes were up 9% in the year, highlighting the ongoing need for micro finance initiatives. €5.5m in loans was approved to 400 businesses supporting 1,141 jobs.

The rationale for the investment made by the Irish Government has always been that of job creation. Microfinance Ireland lends to those who cannot raise finance from conventional sources and we measure our success not only on our lending volumes, but primarily by measuring the employment we have supported in the businesses we have invested in.

To date, MFI has approved €22.6m in loans to 1,567 businesses, supporting 3,952 jobs.

Credit Management

Microfinance Ireland is mandated to take risks that commercial lenders cannot, however the balance between risk orientation and the sustainability of the business model which underpins the long term sustainability of the borrowers' business is critical.

As the loan book continues to mature, it is now possible to understand better the outcomes of our underwriting practices in what is a unique loan book. We have continued to enhance our credit management processes to ensure that at all times we maintain equilibrium between risk and sustainability. The underlying quality of the loan book improved in the year under review while the Loan Approval Rate reduced only marginally to 43%. Our bad debt provisioning rate has reduced in line with experience.

Mentoring

In addition to our lending services, MFI provides post approval mentoring services to our borrowers. This is an important additional support to our customers in helping them develop various management skills which they may not have, thus increasing their business acumen and the sustainability of their businesses. These mentoring services are paid for by MFI on our customers behalf and delivered through the Local Enterprise Office Network.

In addition to the strong business performance, there were a number of important key achievements in 2017:

1) Government Capital Funding

In December 2016, the then Minister for Jobs, Employment and Innovation obtained approval from the Government for the granting of the second injection of €10m capital funding to MFI. This funding which is greatly appreciated, was provided under the provisions of the Microfinance Loan Fund Act 2012 and ensures the continued operation of Microfinance Ireland. These funds were received by the business in January 2017.

2) <u>European Code of Good Conduct for Microcredit Provision</u>.

In March, the business achieved certification of compliance with the European Commission's European Code of Good Conduct for Microcredit Provision. This code reviews all aspect of a micro finance business against best in class behaviours, with an emphasis on customer support, risk management, customer transparency and compliance.

3) European Investment Fund (EIF)

The business continues to receive strong support from EIF. In December 2017, the European Investment Fund (EIF) signed a second agreement with Microfinance Ireland (MFI) under the European Commission's <u>EU Programme for Employment and Social Innovation</u> (EaSI), following the expiry of a previous agreement, signed in 2015. This very significant support from the EIF allows us to consider risk profiles otherwise outside our capacity to fund and will enable MFI to support an additional €30 million in loans to micro-borrowers over the next five years. The programme requires the provision of mentoring along with the loan support and provides an integrated approach to microenterprises.

Other Funding

In 2015, a syndicated loan of €15m was provided by Bank of Ireland, AIB and Ulster Bank through our parent company The Social Finance Foundation. This funding provides the working capital which is used to fund our lending activities. To date €10m of this facility has been drawn to support our lending activities. The remaining €5m can be drawn at any stage up to the end of December 2018.

Business Development

Microfinance Ireland continued to maintain strong relationships with a range of referral partners and also continues to explore a range of other potential partners.

The Local Enterprise Office (LEO) Network is our primary partner and a major source of applications. The LEO Network offers significant help to our potential clients through guidance, mentoring and support in submitting their loan application.

MFI also continued to work with the Irish Local Development Network (ILDN), who deals with a large number of clients who are moving to self-employment and are on the Back to Work Enterprise Allowance (BTWEA).

Our Bank Channel, consisting of Bank of Ireland, AIB and Ulster Bank continues to grow.

In addition to our referral partners, the business has developed a very strong direct channel. In 2017, it became the single largest source of applications for the businesses and accounted for 47% of all applications.

Business development activities have been further supported through the introduction of a sales lead management system.

Marketing and Branding

Following our rebranding in late 2016, there has been strong growth in brand awareness. The rebranding has been supported during 2017 with enhanced marketing activities, across traditional and digital media, promotional and engagements events. These activities continue to draw a growing amount of traffic to our website and social media pages, with increased level of enquiries to the business. The combined impact of all elements of the rebranding and our marketing activities has created better clarity of our offering, online supports and a greater focus on our customers' needs.

Pricing

Pricing has been maintained at the levels introduced in 2016. Our partner rate is a fixed rate of 6.8% APR, while our direct rate is a fixed rate of 7.8% APR. Both these rates are competitive for the market we serve.

Strategy

The 5 Year Strategic Plan approved in September 2016, was reviewed during 2017. This revised plan will not change the focus of the business and gives strong direction to the business as to the primary drivers and targets for the coming years.

Human Resources

Our employees are our most important asset and the key driver of our success. Management continue to work with the team to ensure a high level of engagement and deliver various supports to improve employees' conditions and develop their careers. Employee turnover slowed in 2017 to an acceptably low level.

Key Objectives 2018

- To continue to support the economy and job creation through our lending activities with microenterprises.
- To grow the business in line with our financial projections.
- Achieve an appropriate balance between growth and risk management.
- Explore a range of additional partnerships.
- Successfully deliver a range of mandatory and business enhancing change programmes.

Garrett Stokes

Chief Executive

11 June 2018

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the company for the financial year ended 31st December 2017.

Principal Activities

Microfinance Ireland was incorporated by The Social Finance Foundation (SFF) on 17 August 2012 pursuant to the Microenterprise Loan Fund Act 2012 on the initiative of the then Minister for Jobs, Enterprise and Innovation. This dedicated subsidiary of SFF was established to manage the Microenterprise Loan Fund. Following incorporation, the Minister made an initial grant of €10m into the Fund. A further grant of €10m was approved in December 2016 and received on 3 January 2017.

The main object of the company is to lend money to create the optimum number of jobs in the microenterprise sector. Applicants will be supported from all industry sectors with commercially viable proposals that do not meet the conventional risk criteria applied by commercial banks.

In recognition of the higher risk profile of the activities of Microfinance Ireland, the company secured support for its activities from the European Investment Fund (EIF). Under the European Progress Microfinance Facility (EPMF) for employment and social inclusion signed on 7 December 2012 and the Employment and Social Innovation Guarantee Facility (EaSI) signed on 14 October 2015 and successor guarantee signed 11 December 2017, EIF as Guarantor will partially cover the risk of the Microfinance Ireland loan portfolio subject to specific ceiling levels at both portfolio and individual client loan level and subject to specific terms and conditions.

Legal Status

Microfinance Ireland is a single member private designated activity company. In accordance with the Microenterprise Loan Fund Act 2012, Part 3, sections 11 and 12 Microfinance Ireland is a subsidiary of SFF. The authorised share capital of Microfinance Ireland is €1. Microfinance Ireland has issued the one share of €1 to SFF which holds this share in accordance with sub sections 3 and 4 of Section 12 of the Act.

Microfinance Ireland has been granted charitable status (Registered Charity No. CHY 20447) and is registered with the Charities Regulatory Authority (Registration Number 20081102).

Accounting Records

The measures taken by the directors to secure compliance with the requirements of section 281 to 285 of the Companies Act 2014 with regard to the keeping of accounting records are the use of appropriate systems and procedures and employment of competent persons. The accounting records are kept at 13 Richview Office Park, Clonskeagh, Dublin 14.

Results for the period

The Company's outturn for the financial year is set out on Page 19 to 35 and is considered satisfactory. The Deficit on ordinary activities was €1,515,000 (2016 €1,567,000).

Governance

Microfinance Ireland was incorporated pursuant to the Microenterprise Loan Fund Act 2012 ('Act 2012'). The company operates on an ongoing basis within the Act 2012, the Microenterprise Loan Fund Scheme (S.I. No. 343 of 2012 and S.I. No. 393 2015) and the Arrangement (pursuant to Section 19 of the Act 2012). These legal requirements, together with the Combined Code, published in June 1998 and updated by the Committee on Corporate Governance and all subsequent guidance on its application and the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies are the foundations on which corporate governance is based. Maintaining high standards of corporate governance is a priority of the directors.

The functions of the Board are set out in the Microenterprise Loan Fund Scheme S.I. No. 393 2015. The Board is accountable, through its parent company The Social Finance Foundation, to the Minister for Business, Enterprise and Innovation and is responsible for ensuring good governance and performs this task by setting strategic objectives and targets and taking strategic decisions on all key business issues. The regular day-to-day management, control and direction of Microfinance Ireland are the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the senior management team. The CEO and the senior management team must follow the broad strategic direction set by the Board, and must ensure that all Board members have a clear understanding of the key activities and decisions related to the entity, and of any significant risks likely to arise. The CEO acts as a direct liaison between the Board and management of Microfinance Ireland.

The work and responsibilities of the Board are set out in Matters Reserved for the Board. Standing items considered by the Board include:

- Declaration of interests.
- Key performance indicator reports and management accounts including Budget variance analysis,
- Reports from Audit and Risk Committee and Credit Committee.
- Risk reports,
- Financial reports
- Reserved matters

Business Risks and Management

It is the company's policy to develop and implement a risk management process which:

- Enables identification and assessment of risks that could impact the achievement of the business remit and objectives
- Establishes risk appetite by key risk category
- Ensures that appropriate mitigating measures and controls are adopted and implemented
- Ensures ownership, reporting and review of risk at Management, Board subcommittee and Board level on a regular and ongoing basis
- Ensures periodic review and approval of policies for managing risk

Overall, the Company has classified business risks over seven key headings, the most significant current risks being:

- Managing credit risk within the agreed appetite under Credit Risks
- Awareness, distribution and client mentoring support under Strategic Risks

Board Structure

The Board consists of a Chairperson and nine ordinary members, all of whom are appointed by MFI parent The Social Finance Foundation (SFF) following consultation with the Minister for Business, Enterprise and Innovation and the Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform. The members of the Board were appointed for a period of three years and meet not less than four times per year.

The table below details the appointment period for members and a schedule of attendance at Board and Committee meetings for 2017:

		Board (6 Meetings)	ARC (4 Meetings)	Credit Committee (4 Meetings)
Cyril Forbes (Chairman)	Appointed 29 August 2015	6		
Elizabeth Jean Carberry #	Appointed 18 May 2017	3	1	
Gerard Cleary \$	Resigned 11 Sept 2017	1		2
Sheelagh Daly \$	Appointed 29 August 2015	5		1
Páraig Hennessy #	Resigned 5 April 2017	1	1	
John Irwin \$	Appointed 25 Nov 2015	4		4
Harry McDaid \$	Appointed 29 August 2015	3		3
Gerry O'Neill #	Appointed 29 August 2015	5	3	
Susan O'Neill	Appointed 29 Nov 2017	1		
Mary O'Shaughnessy	Appointed 29 August 2015	3		
Anne Reilly	Appointed 29 August 2015	5		
Brendan Whelan #	Appointed 29 August 2015	6	4	

- # Audit and Risk committee member
- \$ Credit committee member

Details of Board Committees' are as follows:

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) comprises three Board members. The role of ARC is to support the Board in relation to its responsibilities for financial oversight and risk management (other than credit risk) and associated assurance. The ARC is independent from the financial management of the organisation. In particular the Committee ensures that the internal control systems including audit activities are monitored actively and independently. The ARC reports to the Board after each meeting.

The members of the Audit and Risk Committee are: Gerry O'Neill (Chairperson), Jean Carberry and Brendan Whelan.

Credit Committee comprises three Board members. The role of the Credit Committee is to support the Board in relation to its responsibilities for issues of credit risk, control and governance and associated assurance. The Credit Committee is independent from the credit risk management of the organisation. In particular the Committee ensures that credit underwriting activities are monitored actively and independently. The Credit Committee reports to the Board after each meeting.

The members of the Credit Committee are: Harry McDaid (Chairperson), John Irwin and Sheelagh Daly.

The Board Committee for Business Development and Marketing met once in 2017. At this meeting the terms of reference of the Committee were reviewed and it was concluded that its purpose was superceded by the revised and expanded management structure put in place in 2016. Consequently, the Committee proposed and it was accepted by the Board in September 2017 that the Committee be disbanded.

Fees and Expenses

The directors serve on the Board in a voluntary capacity and receive no fees or remuneration for time spent in carrying out these duties.

Travel and subsistence costs of €1,719 were reimbursed or reimbursable to directors in relation to expenses incurred in the financial year ending 31st December 2017 (€3,847 31 Dec 2016).

Key Personnel Changes

Two members of the Board resigned during the year. In accordance with the Microenterprise Loan Fund Scheme 2015, the parent company SFF with the consent of the Minister for Business, Enterprise and Innovation and the Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform appointed two new members.

Health and Safety

The wellbeing of the company's employees is safeguarded through the strict adherence to health and safety standards. The Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act 2005 imposes certain requirements on employers and Microfinance Ireland takes the necessary actions to ensure compliance with that Act.

Confidential Disclosures

The Board has approved the Company's policy to ensure that employees have the opportunity to raise concerns about possible irregularities in financial reporting or other matters.

Disclosure of Interests

As set down in Section 16 of the Microenterprise Loan Fund Act 2012, Microfinance Ireland has adopted procedures in relation to the disclosure of interests of directors and those procedures have been adhered to.

Directors' Responsibilities Statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the directors' report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable Irish law and regulations. Irish company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under the law, the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 102 ('FRS102') with the Accounting Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council and promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland for periods beginning before 1 January 2015. Under company law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at the financial year end date and of the income and expenditure of the company for the financial year end and otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

- · Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- State whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, identify those standards and note the effect and the reasons for any material departure from those standards;
- Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the company keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records which correctly explain and record the transactions of the company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and income and expenditure of the company to be determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure that the financial statements and directors report comply with the Companies Acts 2014 and enable the financial statements to be audited. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Relevant Audit Information

In the case of each of the persons who are directors at the time this report is approved in accordance with section 332 of Companies Act 2014 the directors believe that they have taken all steps necessary to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and have established that the statutory auditors are aware of that information. In as far as they are aware there is no relevant information of which the auditors are unaware.

Auditors

In accordance with Section 20 of the Microenterprise Loan Fund Act 2012, the Comptroller and Auditor General is the auditor of the company.

Disclosures Required by Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (2016)

The Board is responsible for ensuring that Microfinance Ireland has complied with the requirements of the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies ("the Code"), as published by the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform in August 2016.

The following disclosures are required by the Code:

Consultancy Costs

Consultancy costs include the cost of external advice to management and exclude outsourced 'business-as-usual' functions.

	2017 €	2016 €
Human Resources Market Analysis	0 0	5,535 12,915
Total consultancy costs	0	18,450

Travel and Subsistence Expenditure

Travel and subsistence expenditure is categorised as follows:

		2017€	2016 €
Domestic -	Board	1,719	3,847
	Employees	7,592	13,035
International -	Board	0	0
	Employees	4,480	2,083
Total		13,791	18,965

Hospitality Expenditure

The Income and Expenditure Account includes the following hospitality expenditure:

2017 € 2016 € 1,204 1,913

Board and Staff hospitality

No costs were incurred in relation to legal costs, settlements and conciliation / arbitration proceedings relating to contracts with third parties. It should be noted that the cost of general legal advice in the normal course of business is disclosed in Legal costs under Administrative Expenses (see Note 5 to the Financial Statements).

Statement of Compliance

The Board has adopted the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (2016) and has put procedures in place to ensure compliance with the Code. Microfinance Ireland was in compliance with the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies for 2017.

On behalf of the board

Cyril Forbes

Gerry O'Neill

11 June 2018

STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL

Scope of Responsibility

On behalf of Microfinance Ireland, I acknowledge the Board's responsibility for ensuring that an effective system of internal control is maintained and operated. This responsibility takes account of the requirements of the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (2016).

Purpose of the System of Internal Control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a tolerable level rather than to eliminate it. The system can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions authorised and properly recorded and that material errors or irregularities are either prevented or detected in a timely way.

The system of internal control, which accords with guidance issued by the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform, has been in place in Microfinance Ireland for the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of approval of the financial statements.

Capacity to Handle Risk

Microfinance Ireland has two Board Committees overseeing risk management, an Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) and the Credit Committee. The ARC comprises three Board members, with financial and audit expertise, one of whom is the Chair. The ARC met four times in 2017.

The Credit Committee also comprises three Board members, with credit expertise, one of whom is the Chair. External independent observers attended Credit Committee on a regular basis. Credit Committee met four times in 2017.

Microfinance Ireland has also established an internal audit function which is outsourced to a professional accountancy firm and conducts a programme of work agreed with the ARC.

The Board has developed a risk management policy which sets out its risk appetite, the risk management processes in place and details the roles and responsibilities of the Board Committees and staff in relation to risk. The policy has been issued to all staff who are expected to work within Microfinance Ireland's risk management policies, to alert management on emerging risks and control weaknesses and assume responsibility for risks and controls within their own area of work.

Risk and Control Framework

Microfinance Ireland has implemented a risk management system which identifies and reports key risks and the management actions being taken to address and, to the extent possible, to mitigate those risks.

A risk register is in place which identifies the key risks facing Microfinance Ireland and these have been identified, evaluated and graded according to their significance. The register is reviewed and updated by the ARC not less than annually. The outcome of assessments is used to plan and allocate resources to ensure risks are managed to an acceptable level.

The risk register details the controls and actions needed to mitigate risks and responsibility for operation of controls assigned to specific staff. I confirm that a control environment containing the following elements is in place:

- procedures for all key business processes have been documented.
- financial responsibilities have been assigned at management level with corresponding accountability,
- there is an appropriate budgeting system with an annual budget which is kept under review by senior management,
- there are systems aimed at ensuring the security of the information and communication technology systems.
- there are systems in place to safeguard the assets.

Ongoing Monitoring and Review

Formal procedures have been established for monitoring control processes and control deficiencies are communicated to those responsible for taking corrective action and to management and the Board, where relevant, in a timely way. I confirm that the following ongoing monitoring systems are in place:

- key risks and related controls have been identified and processes have been put in place to monitor the
 operation of those key controls and report any identified deficiencies,
- reporting arrangements have been established at all levels where responsibility for financial management has been assigned
- there are regular reviews by senior management of periodic and annual performance and financial reports which indicate performance against budgets.

Procurement

I confirm that Microfinance Ireland has procedures in place to ensure compliance with current procurement rules and guidelines.

Review of Effectiveness

I confirm that Microfinance Ireland has procedures to monitor the effectiveness of its risk management and control procedures. Microfinance Ireland's monitoring and review of the effectiveness of the system of internal financial control is informed by the work of the internal and external auditors, the ARC and Credit Committee which oversees their work and the senior management within Microfinance Ireland responsible for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework.

I confirm that the Board conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the internal controls for 2017.

Internal Control Issues

No weaknesses in internal control were identified in relation to 2017 that require disclosure in the financial statements.

On behalf of the board

Cyril Forbes

11 June 2018

Report for presentation to the Houses of the Oireachtas

Microfinance Ireland

Opinion on financial statements

I have audited the financial statements of Microfinance Ireland for the year ending 31 December 2017 as required under the provisions of section 20 of the Microenterprise Loan Fund Act 2012. The financial statements comprise the statement of income and expenditure, the statement of financial position, the statement of changes in reserves and capital account, the statement of cash flows and the related notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In my opinion, the financial statements

- give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of Microfinance Ireland at 31
 December 2017 and of its income and expenditure for 2017
- have been properly prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland, and
- have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.

Basis of opinion

I conducted my audit of the financial statements in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as promulgated by the International Organisation of Supreme Audit Institutions. My responsibilities under those standards are described in the appendix to this report. I am independent of the company and have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the standards.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Conclusions related to going concern

As described in the appendix to this report, I conclude on

- the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the directors and
- whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern.

I have nothing to report in that regard.

Opinion on matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014

Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, I report that in my opinion

- · the information given in the directors' report is consistent with the financial statements, and
- the directors' report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.

I have obtained all the information and explanations that I consider necessary for the purposes of my audit.

In my opinion, the accounting records of Microfinance Ireland were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and properly audited, and the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

The Companies Act 2014 also requires me to report if, in my opinion, the disclosures of directors' remuneration and transactions required by sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not made. I have nothing to report in that regard.

Report on information other than the financial statements, and on other matters

The directors have presented certain other information with the financial statements. This comprises the chairman's statement, the report of the chief executive, the directors' report, and the statement on internal control. My responsibilities to report in relation to such information, and on certain other matters upon which I report by exception, are described in the appendix to this report.

I have nothing to report in that regard.

John Crean

Jen Cree

For and on behalf of the

Comptroller and Auditor General

15 June 2018

Appendix to the report

Responsibilities of the Directors

The directors' report sets out the directors' responsibilities. The directors are responsible for

- the preparation of financial statements in the form prescribed under the Companies Act 2014
- ensuring that the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with FRS102
- ensuring the regularity of transactions
- assessing whether the use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate, and
- such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Responsibilities of the Comptroller and Auditor General

I am required under section 20 of the Microenterprise Loan Fund Act 2012 to audit the financial statements of Microfinance Ireland and to report thereon to the Houses of the Oireachtas.

My objective in carrying out the audit is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. In doing so,

- I identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud or error; design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks; and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- I obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal controls.
- I evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures,
- I conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, on whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on Microfinance Ireland's ability to

continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease being a going concern.

I evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

Information other than the financial statements

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information presented with those statements, and I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, I am required under the ISAs to read the other information presented and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or with knowledge obtained during the audit, or if it otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact.

Reporting on other matters

My audit is conducted by reference to the special considerations which attach to State bodies in relation to their management and operation. I report if there are material matters relating to the manner in which public business has been conducted.

I seek to obtain evidence about the regularity of financial transactions in the course of audit. I report if there is any material instance where public money has not been applied for the purposes intended or where transactions did not conform to the authorities governing them.

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

	Notes	Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017 €'000	Financial Year Ended 31 December 2016 €'000
Interest Income	3	539	518
Interest Expense	3	(193)	(177)
Income	3	346	341
Administrative expenses	5	(1,560)	(1,477)
Bad debts			
-Specific charge	9	(1,135)	(944)
-Collective charge	9	(65)	(196)
-Cash Recoveries		169	73
-Guarantee callable under EIF	10	730	636
Total		(301)	(431)
Deficit for the financial year		(1,515)	(1,567)

The Statement of Income and Expenditure includes all gains and losses recognised in the year. The Statement of Changes in Reserves and Capital Account, the Statement of Cash Flows and Notes 1 to 23 form part of these Financial Statements.

Approved by the board and authorised for issue on 11 June 2018.

Cyrll Forbes Director Gerry O'Neill Director

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31st December 2017

516t B655111151 2017		31 December	31 December
		2017	2016
	Notes	€'000	€'000
Tangible fixed assets	8	10	15
Current assets			
Loans and advances to customers net of provisions	9	5,762	4,870
Amounts recoverable from EIF	10	1,363	959
Accrued income		8	8
Short term deposits		12,724	6,908
Cash at bank and in hand		50_	45
		19,907	12,790
Creditors – (amounts falling due within one year)	11	(1,591)	(1,528)
Net current assets		18,316	11,262
Creditors – (amounts falling due after one year)	12	(5,658)	(7,094)
Net assets		12,668	4,183
Capital and reserves			
Issued share capital	14	-	-
Microenterprise Loan Fund	15	12,668	4,183
		12,668	4,183

The Statement of Changes in Reserves and Capital Account, the Statement of Cash Flows and Notes 1 to 23 form part of these Financial Statements.

On behalf of the board on 11 June 2018.

Director

Cyril Ferbes Gerry O'Neill Director

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES AND CAPITAL ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

	Revenue Reserves €'000	Microfinance Loan Fund Account €'000	Total
	€ 000	€ 000	€'000
At 1 January 2016	0	5,750	5,750
Deficit for the year	(1,567)	0	(1,567)
Transfer from Microfinance Loan Fund Account	1,567	(1,567)	0
At 31 December 2016	0	4,183	4,183
	Revenue Reserves €'000	Microfinance Loan Fund Account €'000	Total €'000
At 1 January 2017	Reserves	Fund Account	
At 1 January 2017 Grant received (see Note 15)	Reserves €'000	Fund Account €'000	€'000
-	Reserves €'000	Fund Account €'000 4,183	€'000 4,183
Grant received (see Note 15)	Reserves €'000 0	Fund Account €'000 4,183 10,000	€'000 4,183 10,000

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2017		Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017	Financial Year Ended 31 December 2016
	Notes	€'000	€'000
Net cash (outflow) from operating activities	16	(2,781)	(2,143)
Cash flows from investing activities			
Purchase of tangible fixed assets		(3)	(7)
Net cash flows from investing activities		(3)	(7)
Cash flows from financing activities			
Grant received		10,000	0
Increase in Borrowings	11&12		
- Drawdown of Parent Company funding		, O	5,000
- Repayment of Parent Company funding	7.5	(1,395)	(1,015)
Net cash flows from financing activities	27	8,605	3,985
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		5,821	1,835
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year	ar 16	6,953	5,118
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year		12,774	6,953
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:			
Cash at bank and in hand		50	45
Short term deposits		12,724	6,908
Cash and cash equivalents	16	12,774	6,953

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Accounting Policies

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the company's financial statements.

1.1. General Information Ownership and operations

Microfinance Ireland was incorporated by The Social Finance Foundation on 17 August 2012 pursuant to the Microenterprise Loan Fund Act 2012 on the initiative of the then Minister for Jobs, Enterprise and Innovation. The Social Finance Foundation (SFF) is a company, limited by guarantee, without a share capital whose members and directors are nominated by the Minister for Finance. The authorised and issued share capital of Microfinance Ireland is €1 which is held by SFF. SFF may not transfer that share without Ministerial consent.

1.2. Format of Accounting Statements

The company has not traded for the acquisition of gain by the members. In accordance with Section 291 of the Companies Act 2014, the company is required to prepare in respect of each financial year, entity financial statements which comply with the formats as set out in Schedule 3 of the Companies Act 2014. The company has availed of Section 291(5) of the Companies Act 2014 and prepared an income and expenditure account in place of a profit or loss account. The directors of the company believe that the information provided in the income and expenditure account reflect the nature of the operating activities of the company and provide a true and fair view of its income and expenditure for the financial year. This departure has no effect on the company's results for the financial year.

1.3. Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102, *The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland*. The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis. Microfinance Ireland is a Public Benefit Entity as defined by Section 34 of FRS102.

1.4. Functional Currency

The financial statements are presented in Euro (€).

1.5. Income and expenses

Interest on loans granted is recognised on a receipts basis which is collected monthly from customers. Bank interest income and interest expense is recognised on an accrual basis. All operating expenses are recognised on an accruals basis and are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.6. Loans and advances to customers

Concessionary loans are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and are not quoted in an active market. They are made at a rate of interest below the risk adjusted market rate. They arise when Microfinance Ireland provides loan to customers which in all instances are financed with a view to holding to maturity.

In accordance with Section 34 of FRS102, Microfinance Ireland operates public benefit entity concessions loans. These concessionary loans are initially recorded at fair value and in subsequent years the concessionary loan is adjusted to reflect any accrued interest payable or receivable. Loans are assessed as to whether there is an indication of impairment and an impairment loss is recorded in the income and expenditure account (see Note 1.7 below).

1.7. Impairment of concessionary loans

MFI assesses, at each Statement of Financial Position Reporting date, if there is objective evidence that any of its loans to customers are impaired. The loans are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. Individually significant loans are assessed on a loan by loan basis. In addition, if, during the course of the year, there is objective evidence that any individual loan is impaired, a specific provision will be recognised.

Any bad debts/impairment losses are recognised in the Income and Expenditure account, as the difference between the carrying value of the loan and the net present value of the expected cash flows.

The company's policy is to provide for bad and doubtful debts to reflect the impairments inherent in the loan portfolio at the Statement of Financial Position Reporting date.

There are two types of bad debt provisions, specific and collective. Specific provisions are made for loans when the company considers that the credit-worthiness of a borrower has deteriorated such that the recovery of the whole or part of an outstanding loan is in serious doubt. The credit assessment is based on objective evidence that the loan is impaired. Objective evidence includes observable data that comes to the attention of Microfinance Ireland including:

- Delinquency in contractual payments
- Cash flow difficulties
- Granting a concession to a borrower
- Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings

The amount of the specific provision is equivalent to the amount to reduce the carrying value of the loan to its expected ultimate net realisable value.

For the purposes of the collective provision, evaluation is undertaken for loans not specifically impaired by combining with assets with similar characteristics. The impairment is then estimated based on the historical loss experience for assets with those similar characteristics.

The aggregate specific and collective provisions made during the period, less amounts released and net of recoveries of loans previously written off are charged against income for the period. Amounts recoverable from the EIF in respect of the period are recognised in the period, and any balance due at the reporting date is included as a debtor in the Statement of Financial Position.

Loans in the Statement of Financial Position are stated net of the aggregate of specific and collective provisions.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.8. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash at bank and in hand, and bank deposits with maturity of less than or equal to 12 months. Bank term deposits are available on demand subject to terms and conditions.

1.9. Tangible fixed assets and Depreciation

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis to write off the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives at the following annual rates:

Computer equipment and software

3 years

Office Furniture & Equipment

5 years

1.10 Microenterprise Loan Fund

Section 4 (1) of the Microenterprise Loan Fund Act 2012 (the 'Act') prescribes that all grants made to the subsidiary and all gifts and other income shall be known collectively as the Microenterprise Loan Fund (the 'Fund'). The Fund is disclosed separately in the Statement of Financial Position under Capital and Reserves. Subsequent sections of the Act prescribe how moneys standing to the credit of the Fund can be utilised. The value of the Fund is adjusted in line with the reported Income and Expenditure Account of Microfinance Ireland and this is disclosed in the Microenterprise Loan Fund Account.

1.11 Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the company becomes party to a contractual provision of the instrument.

The company only enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the recognition of financial assets and liabilities like loans receivable and payable, loans from banks and other third parties, loans to related parties and investments in non-puttable ordinary shares.

Debt instruments (other than those wholly repayable or receivable within one year), including concessionary are initially measured at the amount received or paid and recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, and subsequently the loans are then adjusted to reflect any accrued interest payable and receivable.

Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost are assessed at the end of each reporting period for objective evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of impairment is found, an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Income and Expenditure.

For financial assets measured at cost less impairment, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between an asset's carrying amount and best estimate, which is an approximation of the amount that the company would receive for the asset if it were to be sold at the Statement of Financial Position Reporting date.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of estimates and judgements. As Management judgement involves an estimate of the likelihood of future events, actual results could differ from those estimates which could affect future reported amounts. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement in relation to these financial statements which are significant to the financial statements are described below.

Impairment of Loans

Microfinance Ireland's policy is to review its portfolio of loans for impairment monthly. In determining whether a provision for impairment is required, MFI makes judgements as to whether any observable data exists indicating that the loan may not be recoverable. MFI's accounting policy in relation to impairment of concessionary loans is set out in Accounting Policy 1.7.

Where there is objective evidence that an individual loan is impaired, a specific provision for that loan is recognised. The remaining loans are assessed collectively in groups that share similar risk characteristics. A collective provision which takes account of historical repayment performance is recognised in relation to these loans.

Management believe that the underlying assumptions used are appropriate and that MFI's financial statements therefore present the financial position fairly.

	Financial Year Ended	Financial Year Ended
	31 December	31 December
3. Income	2017	2016
	€'000	€'000
Interest client loans	516	499
Interest bank deposits	23	19_
Interest Income	539	518
Interest expense on borrowings from Parent	(193)_	(177)
Net Interest Income	346	341

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

4.	Operating profit	Financial Year Ended 31 December 2017 €'000	Financial Year Ended 31 December 2016 €'000
	Operating profit is stated after charging:	C 000	6 000
	Wages and salaries (excluding PRSI)	602	589
	Employer PRSI costs	65	63
	Depreciation	8	8
	Auditors' remuneration	13_	9
		Financial Year Ended	Financial Year Ended
5.	Administrative Expenses	31 December	31 December
J.	Administrative Expenses	2017 €'000	2016
	Salaries and wages (excluding PRSI)	€ 000	€'000 589
	Employer PRSI	65	63
	Staff and board related expenditure	45	35
	Travel and subsistence	14	19
	Credit assessor fees	229	213
	Marketing/advertising	244	247
	Legal fees	17	47
	Outsourcing/consultancy fees	128	128
	Rent	94	35
	Depreciation	8	8
	Premises	30	22
	Client mentoring	27	12
	Other	57	59
		1,560	1,477

Microfinance Ireland incurred staff non-salary related expenditure of €44,752 in the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: €33,304). The expenditure is comprised of employer contributions to personal retirement savings accounts €24,350 (2016: €24,370) death in service insurance for staff €5,294 (2016: €5,524), income continuance insurance €8,575 (introduced in 2017), staff vouchers € 6,000 (2016: €2,750) and staff entertainment of €533 (2016: €660).

Board entertainment was €671 in the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: €1,253).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

	12 Months	12 Months
6. Employee information	December 2017	December 2016
The average number of persons employed during the year	12	12

Range of employee salaries

From	То	Number of Employees	Number of Employees
		2017	2016
€60,000 -	€69,999	3	3
€70,000 -	€79,999	1	1
€80,000 -	€89,999	1	1

Retirement Benefit Obligations

Microfinance Ireland does not operate an occupational scheme and has no retirement benefit obligations to employees.

Key management remuneration

The directors of Microfinance Ireland are all unpaid volunteers. The key management team was increased in 2016 from three to five posts and now includes the CEO, Head of Credit, Head of Finance and Risk, the Operations Manager and the Marketing and Channels Manager who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling activities.

	J. J.	· ·	2017	2016
Sa	alaries paid to key mana	egament	€	€
Oc	dianes paid to key mana	agement	350,000	341,000

Chief Executive Officer Remuneration

Remuneration for the period to 31 December 2017 is as follows:

Salary € 88,000

The CEO is not entitled to any retirement benefits.

Travel and subsistence costs of €2,181 were reimbursed or reimbursable to the CEO in relation to expenses incurred in the period to 31 December 2017 (2016: €1,054).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – continued

7. Taxation

The charitable status of the company has been approved by the Revenue Commissioners – CHY 20447.

8. Tangible Assets

giale resets	Office Furniture & Equipment	Computer Equipment & Software	Total
	€'000	€'000	€'000
Cost		2000	4 4 4 4
At 1 January 2017	20	32	52
Additions	-	3	3
Disposals	-	-	-
At 31 December 2017	20	35	55
Depreciation			
At 1 January 2017	8	29	37
Charge for the year	4	4	8
On disposals	-	-	_
At 31 December 2017	12	33	45
Net book value			
At 31 December 2016	12	3	15
At 31 December 2017	8	2	10

	Office Furniture & Equipment €'000	Computer Equipment & Software €'000	Total €'000
Cost			
At 1 January 2016	13	32	45
Additions	7	-	7
Disposals		-	-
At 31 December 2016	20	32	52
Depreciation			
At 1 January 2016	5	24	29
Charge for the year	3	5	8
On disposals	-	-	-
At 31 December 2016	8	29	37
Net book value			
At 31 December 2015	8	8	16
At 31 December 2016	12	3	15

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

Loans outstanding at beginning of financial year € 000 (€ 000) € 000 (€ 000) New loans advanced 4,863 (2,771) 4,285 Capital repaid (2,771) (2,292) Amounts written off (1,151) (1,139) Loans outstanding at financial year end 8,211 (2,449) (2,400) Provision for bad and doubtful debts (2,449) (2,400) ***Topic of the company of the provision of th	9. (a) Loans and advances to customers	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
Loans outstanding at beginning of financial year 7,270 6,416 New loans advanced 4,863 4,285 Capital repaid (2,771) (2,292) Amounts written off (1,151) (1,139) Loans outstanding at financial year end 8,211 7,270 Provision for bad and doubtful debts (2,449) (2,400) Provision for bad and doubtful debts 31 December 2017 2016 (b) Loans and advances by maturity €'000 €'000 €'000 3 months or less 808 727 2,727 2,077 Over 1 year 5,031 4,466 4,466 4,260 €'000 <th>or (a) Touris and designed to be designed</th> <th></th> <th></th>	or (a) Touris and designed to be designed		
New loans advanced 4,863 4,285 Capital repaid (2,771) (2,292) Amounts written off (1,151) (1,139) Loans outstanding at financial year end 8,211 7,270 Provision for bad and doubtful debts (2,449) (2,400) 5,762 4,870 2017 2016 (b) Loans and advances by maturity €'000 €'000 3 months or less 808 727 1 year or less but over 3 months 2,372 2,077 Over 1 year 5,031 4,466 8,211 7,270 (c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 2017 2016 Foreific Provision 2017 2016 Specific Provisions 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance reversed during the year (1,151) (1,139) Loans written off (1,151) (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision 1,430 1,234 <td>Loans outstanding at beginning of financial year</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Loans outstanding at beginning of financial year		
Capital repaid (2,771) (2,292) Amounts written off (1,151) (1,139) Loans outstanding at financial year end 8,211 7,270 Provision for bad and doubtful debts (2,449) (2,400) 5,762 4,870 (b) Loans and advances by maturity € 000 € 000 3 months or less 808 727 1 year or less but over 3 months 2,372 2,077 Over 1 year 5,031 4,466 8,211 7,270 (c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 31 December (c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 2017 2016 (c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 2017 2016 (c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance for losses made during the year (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision 1,430 1,234 A	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Amounts written off (1,151) (1,139) Loans outstanding at financial year end 8,211 7,270 Provision for bad and doubtful debts (2,449) (2,400) 5,762 4,870 2017 2016 (b) Loans and advances by maturity €'000 €'000 3 months or less 808 727 1 year or less but over 3 months 2,372 2,077 Over 1 year 5,031 4,466 8,211 7,270 (c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 2017 2016 € Provisions 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance reversed during the year (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision 954 970 Collective Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196		(2,771)	(2,292)
Provision for bad and doubtful debts (2,449) (2,400) 5,762 4,870 31 December 2017 2016 (b) Loans and advances by maturity €000 €000 3 months or less 808 727 1 year or less but over 3 months 2,372 2,077 Over 1 year 5,031 4,466 8,211 7,270 (c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 2017 2016 Specific Provision 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance reversed during the year (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision 954 970 Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196		(1,151)	•
5,762 4,870 5,762 4,870 31 December 2017 2016 (b) Loans and advances by maturity €'000 €'000 3 months or less 808 727 1 year or less but over 3 months 2,372 2,077 Over 1 year 5,031 4,466 8,211 7,270 (c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 2017 2016 Foundation 20	Loans outstanding at financial year end	8,211	7,270
(b) Loans and advances by maturity 31 December 2017 2016 3 months or less 808 727 1 year or less but over 3 months 2,372 2,077 Over 1 year 5,031 4,466 8,211 7,270 Specific Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 31 December 2017 2016 €'000 €'000 €'000 Specific Provisions 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance reversed during the year (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196	Provision for bad and doubtful debts	(2,449)	(2,400)
(b) Loans and advances by maturity € '0000 € '0000 3 months or less 808 727 1 year or less but over 3 months 2,372 2,077 Over 1 year 5,031 4,466 8,211 7,270 Specific Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 31 December 2017 2016 Specific Provision 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance reversed during the year (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196		5,762	4,870
(b) Loans and advances by maturity €'000 €'000 3 months or less 808 727 1 year or less but over 3 months 2,372 2,077 Over 1 year 5,031 4,466 8,211 7,270 Specific Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 2017 2016 €'000 €'000 Specific Provisions 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance reversed during the year (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196		31 December	31 December
3 months or less 808 727 1 year or less but over 3 months 2,372 2,077 Over 1 year 5,031 4,466 8,211 7,270 Specific Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 31 December 2017 2016 €'000 €'000 €'000 Specific Provisions 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance reversed during the year (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196		2017	2016
1 year or less but over 3 months Over 1 year (c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts (c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts Specific Provision Opening Provisions Allowance for losses made during the year Allowance reversed during the year Loans written off At 31 December (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) At 31 December (1,151) (1,139) Collective Provisions Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196	(b) Loans and advances by maturity	€'000	€'000
Over 1 year 5,031 4,466 8,211 7,270 (c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 31 December 2017 2016 €'000 €'000 €'000 Specific Provision 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance reversed during the year (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196	3 months or less	808	727
(c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 31 December 2017 2016 €'000 €'000 Specific Provision €'0000 €'000 Opening Provisions 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance reversed during the year (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December (1,151) (1,139) (1,139) Collective Provision 954 970 Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 1,65 196	1 year or less but over 3 months	2,372	2,077
(c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 2017 2016 €'000 Specific Provision Opening Provisions Allowance for losses made during the year Allowance reversed during the year Loans written off At 31 December Collective Provision Opening Provisions 1,302 983 (1,302 983 (1,151) (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision Opening Provisions Allowance made during the financial year 65 196	Over 1 year	5,031	4,466
(c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 2017 2016 €'000 €'000 Specific Provision 970 1,165 Opening Provisions 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance reversed during the year (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196		8,211	7,270
(c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 2017 2016 €'000 €'000 Specific Provision 970 1,165 Opening Provisions 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance reversed during the year (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196		31 December	31 December
Specific ProvisionOpening Provisions9701,165Allowance for losses made during the year1,302983Allowance reversed during the year(167)(39)Loans written off(1,151)(1,139)At 31 December954970Collective ProvisionOpening Provisions1,4301,234Allowance made during the financial year65196	(c) Provisions for bad and doubtful debts		
Opening Provisions 970 1,165 Allowance for losses made during the year 1,302 983 Allowance reversed during the year (167) (39) Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196		€'000	€'000
Allowance for losses made during the year Allowance reversed during the year Loans written off At 31 December Collective Provision Opening Provisions Allowance made during the financial year 1,302 983 (167) (1,151) (1,139) (1,139) 970 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196	Specific Provision		
Allowance reversed during the year Loans written off (1,151) At 31 December Collective Provision Opening Provisions Allowance made during the financial year (167) (1,139)	Opening Provisions		
Loans written off (1,151) (1,139) At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196	Allowance for losses made during the year	•	
At 31 December 954 970 Collective Provision Opening Provisions 1,430 1,234 Allowance made during the financial year 65 196		` '	
Collective Provision Opening Provisions Allowance made during the financial year 1,430 1,234 196			
Opening Provisions1,4301,234Allowance made during the financial year65196	At 31 December	954	970
Allowance made during the financial year 65 196	Collective Provision		
	• •	1,430	1,234
At 31 December	_ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	65	196
	At 31 December	1,495	1,430

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

(d) Cumulative position at 31 December 2017

	€'000
Total loans advanced	19,068
Capital amounts repaid	(7,772)
Loans written off	(3,085)
Loans outstanding at 31 December 2017	8,211
Specific provision (954)	
Collective provision (1,495)	(2,449)
	5,762

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

10. Amounts recoverable from EIF

	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
At beginning of financial year	€'000 959	€'000 1,187
Guarantee callable against bad debts	730	636
Amounts received from EIF	(326)	(864)
Balance at end of the financial year	1,363	959

In recognition of the higher risk profile of the activities of Microfinance Ireland, the company secured support for its activities from the European Investment Fund (EIF). Under the European Progress Microfinance Facility (EPMF) for employment and social inclusion signed on 7 December 2012, the Employment and Social Innovation Guarantee Facilities (EaSI) signed on 14 October 2015 and successor Agreement signed 11 December 2017, EIF as Guarantor partially covers the credit risk of the Microfinance Ireland loan portfolio subject to specific ceiling levels at both portfolio and individual client loan level and also subject to specific terms and conditions.

11. Creditors - amounts falling due within one year

Borrowings from parent company

	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
Trade creditors	€'000	€'000
-PAYE & PRSI	18	19
-Accruals	142	119
	160	138
Borrowings from parent company (see Note 12)	1,431	1,390
	1,591	1,528
12. Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year		
	31 December	31 December
	2017	2016
	€'000	€'000

On 23rd February 2015, Microfinance Ireland executed a Loan Facility Agreement for a borrowing facility of up to €15m from its Parent company The Social Finance Foundation. On 6th May 2015, Microfinance Ireland drew down the first tranche of €5 million. On 29th June 2016, Microfinance Ireland drew down the second tranche of €5 million. The remaining tranche of €5 million can be drawn up to end December 2018. The term of the loan is 7 years and the current interest rate is 3 month Euribor plus a margin of 2.75%. The margin is subject to annual review.

5.658

7.094

As part of the facility terms, Microfinance Ireland has executed a Debenture in favour of The Social Finance Foundation creating a floating charge over the property and assets of the company in favour of the lender in the event of default by the borrower.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

13. (a) Financial risk management

Microfinance Ireland manages the Microenterprise Loan Fund so that it earns interest income from loans to customers and surplus cash on deposits with banks. The main financial risks arising from MFI's activities are credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.

Credit risk: Credit risk is the risk that a borrower will default on their contractual obligations relating to repayments to Microfinance Ireland, resulting in financial loss to Microfinance Ireland. In order to manage this risk, the Board approves Microfinance Ireland's credit policy, and all changes to it. All loan applications are assessed with reference to the credit policy in force at the time. Subsequently loans are regularly reviewed for any factors that may indicate that the likelihood of repayment has changed.

MFI also monitors its banking arrangements closely and approves not less than annually the panel of banks with which it conducts banking business.

Liquidity risk: Microfinance Ireland policy is to ensure it has adequate committed lines of credit in place and also invest its surplus funds in liquid form, sufficient to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The profile of Microfinance Ireland's customer loan book is approximately half the duration of its Borrowing facilities, thus ensuring a positive cashflow. Microfinance Ireland reviews its cashflows at regular intervals to ensure that it is fully funded into the future for a period of not less than 12 months.

Market risk: Market risk is generally comprised of interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk. Microfinance Ireland conducts all its transactions in Euro and does not deal in derivatives or commodity markets. Therefore, Microfinance Ireland is not exposed to any form of currency risk or other price risk.

Microfinance Ireland's main interest rate risk arises from differences between the interest rate charged on loans to customers which is fixed and the interest rate payable to the Parent relating to Borrowings which is currently variable and reprices quarterly. Based on the current loan portfolio, and assuming all loans to customers are backed by borrowings, a 1% increase in interest rates would cost the company €88k over the remaining life of the current loan portfolio. This risk is reviewed not less than annually. In the event, the company elects to close this risk, the Borrowing facility agreement permits the fixing of funding.

13 (b) Interest rate risk disclosures

The following table shows the average interest rates applicable to relevant financial assets and financial liabilities

2017		2016		
	Amount €'000	Average Interest Rate	Amount €'000	Average Interest Rate
Financial Assets				
Loans to customers	5,762	6.7%	4,870	7.2%
Short term deposits	12,724	0.2%	6,908	0.3%
Financial Liabilities				
Borrowings	7,089	2.5%	8,493	2.7%

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

13. (c) Credit Risk Disclosures

The carrying amount of the loans to customers represents Microfinance Ireland's maximum exposure to credit risk. The following table provides information on the credit quality of loan repayments.

	2017		2	016
	Amount €000	Proportion %	Amount €000	Proportion %
Performing/Current Loans	6,743	82	5,688	78
Up to 30 days past due	239	3	293	4
Between 31 and 60 days past due	250	3	259	4
Between 61 and 90 days past due	219	3	137	2
90+ days past due	662	8	824	11
Restructured loans	98	1	69	1
Total Loans Past Due	1,468	18%	1,582	22%
Total Loans	8,211	100%	7,270	100%
Specific Provision	(954)		(970)	
Collective Provision	(1,495)		(1,430)	
Total Carrying Value	5,762		4,870	

13. (d) Liquidity risk disclosures

Loans are normally granted for terms from 3 months to 60 months and are repayable monthly. Typically, loans are granted for 3 years. The average original life of the loan book as at end Dec 2017 was 44 months (31 December 2016 43 months).

Short terms deposits have a maximum life of 24 months and are frequently on demand. The average life of the deposit book at 31 Dec 2017 was 8 months (31 December 2016 5 months).

Borrowings are repayable over 7 years in quarterly instalments from the date of drawdown.

As at 31 December 2017, Microfinance Ireland had loan commitments of €918,000 (31 December 2016 €796,500). Loan commitments refer to loans approved but not drawn down at financial year end.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

14. Share Capital

The authorised share capital of Microfinance Ireland is €1.

In accordance with the Microenterprise Loan Fund Act 2012, Part 3, sections 11 and 12 Microfinance Ireland is a subsidiary of The Social Finance Foundation.

Microfinance Ireland has issued the one share of €1 to The Social Finance Foundation who holds this share in accordance with sub sections 3 and 4 of section 12 of the Act.

15. Micro Finance Loan Fund Account

On the 3rd January 2017, Microfinance Ireland received a grant of €10m into the Microfinance Loan Fund Account in accordance with section 5 (1) of The Microenterprise Loan Fund Act 2012 bringing total grant funding to €20m. Under section 5 (3), Microfinance Ireland is not liable to repay the Minister any moneys paid to it.

16. (a) Reconciliation of operating deficit to net cash (outflow) from operating activities

	Year ended	Year ended
	31 December	31 December
	2017	2016
	€'000	€'000
Operating deficit	(1,515)	(1,567)
Depreciation	8	8
Increase in loan advances to customers	(2,092)	(1,993)
Increase in creditors	22	40
Reduction in debtors	-	1
Bad debt charge (Specific and Collective)	1,200	1,140
Guarantee called/callable from EIF	(730)	(636)
Amount recoverable from EIF	326	864
Net cash (outflow)	(2,781)	(2,143)

(b) Reconciliation to net cash as at

	Year ended	Year ended
	31 December	31 December
	2017	2016
	€'000	€'000
Cash at bank and in hand	50	45
Short Term Deposits	12,724	6,908
Total Cash and Cash equivalents	12,774	6,953

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – continued

17. Commitments and contingent liabilities

(a) Capital commitments

There were no capital commitments at 31 December 2017 (Nil: 31 December 2016).

(b) Contingent Liabilities

There were no contingent liabilities at 31 December 2017 (Nil: 31 December 2016).

(c) Premises

The company has commitments payable up to 2026 in respect of a 10 year lease (with a 5 year break clause) entered into on 17th October 2016 for office accommodation at 13 Richview Office Park, Clonskeagh, Dublin 14.

Rent reviews are carried out every five years and the current rent is €82,272 per annum including VAT.

Dovable	Year ended 31 December 2017 €000
Payable Within one year Within two and five years	82 328

18. Post Statement of Financial Position Events

There is no Post Reporting Date events to report.

19. Ultimate Parent Company

The ultimate parent company is The Social Finance Foundation, a company limited by guarantee.

20. Directors' remuneration

The directors serve on the Board in a voluntary capacity and receive no fees or remuneration for time spent in carrying out these duties.

Travel and subsistence costs of €1,719 were reimbursed or reimbursable to directors in relation to expenses incurred in the financial year ending 31st December 2017 (€3,847: 31 Dec 2016).

There were no loans to or from directors or other transactions involving directors.

21. Related party disclosures

Total compensation to key management personnel referred to at Note 6 amounted to €350,000.

The Board adopted procedures in accordance with guidelines issued by the Department of Finance in relation to interests by Board Members and these procedures have been adhered to in the year. There were no transactions in the financial year in relation to Board activities in which Board members knowingly had a material interest.

It should be noted that in the normal course of business the Board has delegated decision making authority for individual loan applications to Management and therefore the directors cannot directly influence application outcomes or are they privy to the identity of individual applicants or borrowers.

22. Reclassification of comparatives

Comparative figures have been reclassified, where necessary, to conform to current year's presentation.

23. Approval

The directors approved the financial statements and authorised their issue on 11 June 2018.